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Questions Answers 
1. Wrong indication of the procurement value 

The Annex 4 (Lot 1 Payment schedule) indicates that Lot 1 is 175,000 Euro.  Is 
this possible an error and should be 250,000? 
 

A mistake had been made on this specific annex, and has been corrected.  The 
correct value of the Lot 1 procurement is 250.000 euros. 

2. Schedule - finance 
The payment schedule shows that you expect the contractor to finance the 
development for a year and possible longer, end December 2016.  Are we 
therefore able to charge finance cost to HCCH? 
 

The development will primarily take place in 2015. In 2016, the Developer will 
handle bug fixes during the pilot phase as well as the transition to the service 
provider for maintenance. Your price must include all of these tasks. 
The last instalment will be paid in December 2016 after receipt of the last Grant 
instalment by the European Commission. 
Any extra costs such as interest must be included in your quote. 
 

3. Business process model 
Do you have a business process model that shows the steps and flows in the 
processes that will use this new system? 

The processes are described in the Deliverables document. For the development 
(configuration) phase, we will use the Scrum method. At the start of the Sprint 
we will discuss the details needed for each process to be developed. 
 

4. Travel expenses 
It will be necessary to be on site for the Timebox Sprints, are the travel 
expenses to be included in the fixed price? 
 

We have a video conference system available.  
However, at least one in person meetings will be needed at the beginning of the 
project for the relevant actors to get to know each other. Travel expenses should 
be included in your fixed price. 
 

  



5. Data base 

In iSupport Deliverables paragraph 17.3  477 can you clarify what the 
difference is between the two options and confirm that the State would have 
to provide the database used by iSupport. 

Paragraph 477 states, “The State can choose to install a database (“Should 
Have”) or use a schemer (“Must Have”) to create a database.” 

Can you please clarify what the term “schemer” means? Also, please clarify 
the overall requirement.  Is the intention for the application to run in a 
separate database schema or as a standalone database allowing a client to 
use an existing instance of SQL Server or other database instance rather than 
requiring a new database server? 

In case of the schema scenario, the State will run a job to create the database. 
The alternative scenario is one where the State installs a ready-made database, 
created by the developer. 
There are two production databases: iSupport and e-CODEX. In chapter 17.3 the 
iSupport database is described.  

 
Paragraph 477 in chapter 17.3 can be found in the Deliverables document for 
the draft call for tender. On 1 May the final documents were published including 
an updated Deliverables document (See 
http://www.hcch.net/index_en.php?act=text.display&tid=192). 
 
In this latest version of the Deliverables document there is an updated chapter 
15.3 where the choice for the database (such as SQL Server) is left open, 
provided that the database system is one which is  commonly used, and can be 
easily maintained by the Service Provider. 
 

6. Certificates 

In the iSupport Draft Call for Tender in 2.2.3 paragraph 54 (e) and (f) you 
request “All Certificates” for the two items. We understand the information 
you are requesting but can you clarify what you mean by “All certificates”? 
 
“Certificates” -- Would that be our Incorporation Document and Certified 
Financial Statements? 
 
We are a privately held company and as such do not publish detailed financial 
reports. Our standard practice for proposals is to include our turnover for the 
past 3 years and a letter from our auditors confirming those figures and that 
we are profitable and have sound financial management. Is that acceptable? 
 

The number and the type of certificates will vary depending on the location of 
your company, your own organization, and the applicable domestic law. We 
require official certified statements and will check the compliance of those 
documents with our requirements before and after the selection of the 
successful candidate. 
Certified Financial Statements are required along with the solvency ratio, quick 
ratio, current ratio and the return on total and stakeholders’ equity and the 
dividends policy.  
 
You are referring to a document from the draft call for tender. On 1 May the final 
documents were published (See 
http://www.hcch.net/index_en.php?act=text.display&tid=192). Further details 
can be found in the final call for tender document (par. 55). 
 

7. Configuration of a CMS - New versions of the software 
Will you consider case management software that can be configured to meet 
your mandatory and other requirements? The software is built on Microsoft 
technology including .NET, Windows Workflow Foundation and SQL Server. In 
addition we would provide an Enterprise License to enable it to be used by all 
participating countries. Normally we would also have ongoing maintenance 
fees that would provide you with new versions of the software. Can this be 
included in the ongoing support costs? 
 

An ‘off the shelf’ case management system might be a suitable solution if it 
meets all of the other requirements, including the ability of another provider or 
a State to freely make modifications.  
Fixed license fees must be included in the development budget in order to 
minimise, and preferably avoid, the maintenance fees charged by the Developer. 
If you (also) intend to tender for the maintenance, please specify the support 
costs in your quote corresponding to Lot 2.  
 

http://www.hcch.net/index_en.php?act=text.display&tid=192
http://www.hcch.net/index_en.php?act=text.display&tid=192


8. HCCH hosting iSupport 
Have you considered hosting iSupport for all participating countries as long as 
this could be managed by the software? 
 

The Hague Conference on Private International Law is not an information 
technology organization, and does not have the requisite expertise to support a 
this option.  
 

9. Statistical reports 
For paragraph 367 “A helpful additional functionality would be the capability 
of producing customised statistics in iSupport. The user / manager could 
identify a number of items for which statistics would be created. This is a 
“Could Have” requirement.”  

1. Could you clarify if this is a custom report or a dynamic report?  
2. When you refer to the user/manager identifying a number of items is 

this a dynamic selection that could change at each run of the report?  
3. Would you anticipate that there would be a predefined set of criteria 

for them to choose from or does it need to be able to address all data 
fields in the application? 

4. Are you planning to create a separate ad hoc reporting environment 
that could be used for these types of reports? 

 

1. This is a dynamic report. 
2. Each Central Authority would be able to select criteria for the report that 

are determined to be locally useful but not included in the standard 
statistical reports. Users can save the lay-out and selection for re-use. 

3. Any data existing in the database can be chosen. 
4. All pre-defined reports are a “Must have” requirement and will be 

described during the time-boxes (Sprints) in the requirements 8.1.1 
Regulation and Convention statistics and 8.1.2 Overall statistics. 
Depending upon the chosen solution, a reporting environment may be 
needed to support the “Must have” reports and/or the “Could have” 
dynamic reports. 
You are welcome to include the creation of a reporting environment 
within your proposal.  
 

You should also note that the draft call for tender documents have been replaced 
by final documents which were published on 1 May (See 
http://www.hcch.net/index_en.php?act=text.display&tid=192). 
 

10. Number of end-users 
How many end-users do you expect? 
 

The number of end-users will depend on numerous factors, such as the number 
of Central Authorities using iSupport, the number of caseworkers, managers and 
accountants per Central Authority, as well as the increasing number of States 
ratifying the Convention.  
The total amount of users most probably will range from 20 to 100 in the very 
beginning up to 1000 users upon full implementation of the system. 
iSupport can be implemented by the 31 States that are currently bound by the 
European Regulation or the Hague Convention. 
Within each Central Authority, 1 to 60 caseworkers will use the system. 

  

http://www.hcch.net/index_en.php?act=text.display&tid=192


11. Proprietary software/component. 
Part of the answer to question 2 of the Q&A related to the draft call for 
tender (HCCH should have all right to change the source code on proprietary 
products) is completely prohibitive to our entering the competition. 
The only way we could enter is by using parts of existing software and we 
cannot give up the IP on this product. We could give a perpetual license free 
of licence cost though. In our view this fits the articles around IP in the draft 
tender.  
Could you please indicate if this would be feasible? 
 

If you have any intention to modify a particular provision of the General terms 
and conditions, you must indicate clearly what point you would like to re-
negotiate, including the grounds of your request. In that particular case, you 
must specify which proprietary components you intend to include in the 
solution, and provide the exact terms of the licensing model for each proprietary 
component. 
We will make an assessment of your proposal on that basis.  
It is indeed our intention to be able to modify the source codes in order to 
maintain and add changes (see the Annex 6). Licensing conditions must allow 
the owner and the States using iSupport to access and modify the source code. 
This point is not open to negotiation. 
 

12. Discrepancies between Annex 1 (Deliverables document) and 
Annex 2 (Pricing requirement list) 

We have noticed some differences between the spreadsheet and deliverables 
document where the paragraph numbers are incorrect or the Paragraph 
reference is incorrect. 

You will find below the correct paragraph references and or the correct label: 
 
- Requirement number 13 – paragraph 35  
- Requirement number 45 – is a Must Have (not a Could Have) 
- Requirement number 51 – paragraph 103) 
- Requirement number 52 – paragraph 105  
- Requirement number 53 – paragraph 106  
- Requirement number 55, 56, 57, 58, 59, 60, 61– paragraph 108  
- Requirement number 62 – paragraph 109 
- Requirement number 63 – paragraph 110 
- Requirement number 64 – paragraph 111 
- Requirement number 65 – paragraph 113 
- Requirement number 66 – paragraph 114 
- Requirement number 68 – paragraph 121 and is a Should Have (not a Must 

Have) 
- Requirement number 69 – paragraph 122 
- Requirement number 70 – paragraph 129 
- Requirement number 71 – paragraph 130 
- Requirement number 72 – paragraph 131 
- Requirement number 68 – paragraph 132 
- Requirement number 68 – paragraph 133 
- Requirement number 68 – paragraph 133  
- Requirement number 68 – paragraph 134 
- Requirement number 68 – paragraph 138 
 



13. Hardware 
It is not clear if the budget of 250,000 euros includes the cost of hardware 
such as servers, networking equipment, firewall software, security 
appliances, desktops, database licenses and other required ancillary items 
which may be required for a successful implementation. 

Hardware costs are indeed not included in the budget for Lot 1. I refer you to  
- The CFT par. 78.: Lot 1 consists of the development or the delivery of the 

application and technical deliverables, the technical testing and the 
transition related tasks (see Annex 6, Transition from Project to 
maintenance Document).  

- The Deliverables document which provides a comprehensive list of Lot 1 
requirements 

- The question 11 of the Draft call for tender Q&A (“Questions and Answers 
prior to CFT”) 

 
 

http://www.hcch.net/upload/20150402_draft_call_for_tender.zip
http://www.hcch.net/upload/20150402_draft_call_for_tender.zip

